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Period ended 30 June 2008
Chairman’s report

Chairmman’s report

The ongoing focus of meeting customer needs, improving efficiency, responding to opportunities and
strategically positioning the Company again yielded excellent results for Bega Cheese in the 2007/2008
financial year. Record revenues, profits and output at Bega Cheese highlighted the capacities and capabilities
of the company and its ability to effectively respond to the market place. The success of our first year of Board
and management contral of Tatura Milk Industries Limited {*Tatura Milk”) as a result of our 70% ownership of
that company added further to our consolidated business performance and the strength of the Bega Cheese
group in the Australian dairy industry.

The 2007/2008 year was a record one for Bega Cheese. A review of both the Company performance and the
consolidated results, which induded the investment in Tatura Milk, reveals strong performance in the Bega
Cheese business and a major turn around for Tatura Milk. Bega Cheese’s annual accounts include both the
company performance and the consolidation of the Tatura Milk resuits. Bega Cheese’s total revenue for
2007/2008 was $377.6m with consolidated revenues totaling $696.6m. The Company profit before tax was
$19.4m white the consolidated profit was $36.7m. Profit after tax attributable to the equity holders of the
consolidated group was $27.8m, with the prior year being $12.0m.

The profit performance was built on strong sales in the Bega Cheese business with growth continuing in our
business with Fonterra Brands; increases in the value and volume of sales in the Australian retail and industrial
market, and continued export growth. The significant increase in giobal commodity pricing contributed to
increased revenues received at Tatura Milk, with the improved profit performance being generated from the
improved market conditions and the refocusing of the business through the sale of non-core assets, the
introduction of new customers and investments in key areas of efficiency and process improvement.

Both businesses have had significant increases in manufactured and value added production. Bega Cheese's
output grew to be in excess of 75,000 tonnes of product while Tatura Milk produced almost 73,000 tonnes of
dairy products. When considered jointly, the above now reflects a business that produces or value adds almost
150,000 tonnes of cheddar and cream cheese, skim, whole milk and whey powder. milk protein concentrates,
butter, infant formula and bioactives, while also strategically supplying milk for the liquid milk markets. Chief
Executive Officer, Mick Byrnes, will comment in more detail on divisional performance at Bega Cheese and
Tatura Milk in his report,

The strong performance by Bega Cheese enabled the company throughout the year, to respond to what was
unfortunately another difficult year for our shareholders on farm. Throughout the 2007/2008 year the Bega
Cheese Board continued to review pay rates in light of challenging weather conditions, the rising cost of
inputs and the capacity to pass price increases through to the market place. Average pay rates in 2007/2008
for the first time exceeded 50cpl, protein and butterfat equivalent. it was pleasing to see our shareholders
respond to the stronger pricing signals with an increase in productiorn: farming circumstances have been
extremely testing over a number of years and the fact that Bega Cheese shareholders have been able to
increase production this year is a testament to their skill and resilience.

As Bega Cheese has grown and estabiished itself as one of the leading dairy companies in Australia, we have
discussed with shareholders the most appropriate corporate structure for the organisation. The 2007/2008
year was historic from an organisational structure perspective, with shareholders supporting a change in
structure from a co-operative to an unlisted public company. The new structure positions the company well
for the future whilst still acknowledging the historic contribution of our shareholder base and retaining many
of the features of our business that have led us to our success to date.

Business success is only possible if there is a shared vision and commitment by a number of people. The team
at Bega Cheese continues to apply their skill and enthusiasm to the goal of continuous improvement, growth
and response to the market place. The key leaders that have contributed to Bega Cheese’s success for many
years once again came to the fore in 2007/2008, Mick Byrmes in his role of CEO of Bega, Maurice Van Ryn in
his dual role of CEQ of Tatura Milk and International Business Manager at Bega Cheese, and Colin Griffin as
Cirief Financial Officer at Bega Cheese have all provided the leadership and energy to ensure the tasks
accepted, and the commitments made, within our business were delivered.

Mick, Maurice, Colin, along with senior executive team members Grattan Smith and Matt Fanning, have led our
excellent management and staff to another successful year at Bega Cheese and | would like to acknowledge all
of those that work for Bega Cheese for their ongoing efforts. | would of course equally like to acknowledge my
fellow Board members. Their careful reflection and guidance is a vital component to the success of the
business and | very much appreciate the support they give me in our endeavour to meet and exceed our
shareholders’ expectations.
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Period ended 30 June 2008
Chairman’s report

Chairman’s repart [cont.}

Finally | would like to thank our shareholders for their continued support of myself and the Board: many of our
shareholders can trace back their families’ involvement to the very beginnings of Bega Cheese. As we have
grown and changed our shareholders have supported us. Bega Cheese is now one of Australia's leading dairy
companies, and the shareholder support and stability that has brought the company has been a vital
component of our success. The 2008/2009 year will no doubt see the continued development of the Bega
Cheese business. The outcomes achieved to date will be important as we continue to strive to build for the

future,

.

Barry Irvin
Chairman
30 September 2008

»
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Period ended 30 June 2008
Chief Executive Officer's report

Chief Executive Officer’s report

Overview

The year ended 30 June 2008 has delivered another record profit for Bega Cheese. This result is a very
pleasing outcome for what has been another difficult year in the dairy industry. The foundations that have
been put in place in the Bega Cheese business have proven to be effective in delivering strong results again
this year. The business is well placed to continue to perform well into the future. We have maintained our
focus in delivering improved performance in safety, quality and efficiency throughout the organisation, We
have again made good progress in all of these areas of the business.

We have had good growth in both our domestic and intematfonal business which sees the output for the
Processing & Packaging Unit at 54,139 tonnes for the year. The output for the Dairy Products Unit has grown
to 21,248 tonnes. This year was the first full year of Bega Cheese’s 70% ownership of the Tatura Milk business.
This investment has performed well in our first year of involvement and will create further opportunities for us
to grow our business and to consolidate our pasition in the Australian dairy industry. Despite our involvement
at Tatura Milk we have managed to grow the Bega Cheese business and have increased the profitability of the
business.

Consolidated trading result

Operating profit for the year was $36.7m which was an increase of $14.5m reflecting the positive result at
Tatura Milk being included for the full twelve months. After profit due to the minority interest of $6.1m, the
profit after tax due to equity holders of Bega Cheese was $27.8m.

Trading result for Bega Cheese
The operating result for the year ended 30 June 2008 was a profit of $19.4m. Revenues generated by the
business were up $84.5m to $377.6m.

Bega Cheese also delivered strong returns to its members by way of milk price, co-operative premiums and
dividends, Total milk payments to direct supplier members of Bega Cheese were $67.8m, compared with prior

year of $53.1m.

Processing and Packaging Unit (Ridge Street)
This business unit performed very strongly with growth of 5,109 tonnes and a total output of 54,139 tonnes of
packaged cheese products which is an increase of 10% on the previous year. The table below demonstrates
the significant growth in the Processing & Packaging Unit over the past few years. Output from the Processing
& Packaging Unit has increased by over 50% in the last three years.

2008 2007 2006 2005
Natural and processed cheese {tonnes) 54,139 49,030 42,334 35,705

The continuing growth in the output of the Processing & Packaging Unit has been accompanied by improved
efficiencies and profitability of the business unit. We have continued to invest in the Processing & Packaging
operations and have the majority of the lines running over 24 hours, 5 or & days per week, depending on
demand. New opportunities continue to come our way across both the domestic and export businesses.

Dairy Products Unit {Lagoon Street)

The Dairy Products Unit has made a significant contribution to the profitability of the business this year. Total
milk intake for the year was 175m litres which was 20m litres or 13% up on last year. This increase was largely
due to supply arrangements between Bega Cheese and Tatura Milk for milk market sales. The local intake held
up at 128m litres for the year which was a remarkable effort given the difficult season and high input costs
incurred on farm this year. Market milk offtake increased by 6m litres to 38m litres for the year 2007,/2008.
The year on year production statistics for the Dairy Products Unit bulk product are as follows:-

2008 2007 2006 2005
% % ] %
Production of: tonnes change tonnes change tonnes change tonnes change
Cheese 13,451 119 12,090 6% 11,412 1% 11,366 (1%
Whey powder 6,869 15% 5,957 1% 5,890 1%% 5851 7%
Butter 309 {209} 387 {15%); 457 {15%;) 539 43%
String cheese 619 28% 484 9% 443 27% 350 (2%0)
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Period ended 30 June 2008
Chief Executive Officer's report

Chief Executive Officer’s report [cont.)

Tatura Milk

The 2007/2008 year was the first full year of our involvement with the Tatura Milk business. The 70%
ownership of Tatura Milk has opened up many tremendous opporiunities for the joint business. Tatura Milk
has increased revenues by $91.3m to $340.3m. It has achieved a record profit for the 2007/2008 year at
$20.2m which is a great credit to the management team led by Maurice Van Ryn who has now stepped down
as the Tatura Milk Industries Chief Executive Officer. Aidan Coleman has now taken on this role, is well known
to us, and brings a great deal of experience to Tatura Milk. We are confident that Aidan and his team will
continue the good progress already made in the first year of involvement by Bega Cheese and continue to
grow the revenues and profitability of the Tatura Milk business.

Capitol Chilled Foods {Australia) Pty Ltd {CCFA)

The CCFA joint venture with Dairy Farmers has performed well and maintained a dominant position in its
market in the ACT and southern New South Wales regions. CCFA has provided Bega Cheese with good cash
flows and profits during the 2007/2008 year.

Fonterra Brands [Australia} (FBA} altiance

FBA remains our biggest customer and an important partrer in our business. We have grown sales by 39% in
value terms during the 2007/ 2008 year. We are working with FBA to continue to improve our business
relationship for the benefit of both organisations.

Export division

The export division has grown to over $50m in sales revenue which is a 20% growth for the year. This s a very
good performance given the significant increases in commadity prices and the strength of the Australian doliar
for much of the 2007/2008 year. These increases in price of product to our export customers have been
gradually achieved during the year. The strong growth is expected to continue in the export division. The
export sales revenues are set out below:-

2008 2007 2006 2005
Export sales - retail {$) 50,477,067 39,140,015 36,954516 31,921,781

Acknowledgements

it has been another very successful year for Bega Cheese. We have grown the business across ail areas and
have made rapid and substantial improvements at Tatura Milk, which was an important outcome for the
benefit of Bega Cheese and its shareholders.

The successful transition of Bega Cheese from a co-operative to an unlisted public company was an important
outcome for us and was achieved with outstanding support of our shareholders.

I ' would like to thank all our dedicated and hard working staff for their great contribution to the success of the
Bega Cheese business during the year. We have made some significant progress in our performance during
the year, especially in the area of safety.

I would like to also acknowledge my senior executive team of Maurice Van Ryn, Colin Griffin, Matt Farining and
Grattan Smith and thank them for their tremendous efforts, support and contribution during the year. | would
also ike to thank our very capable management team for their efforts and contribution during the year.

Thank you to the Chairman and Directors of Bega Cheese for their support and guidance during the year. !
look forward to working with the Board, the management team and staff to continue to build on the great
achievements that have been the building blocks of this organisation. We can all be very proud of our
achievements for this year at Bega Cheese.

Michael Bymes
Chief Executive Officer
30 September 2008
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Period ended 30 June 2008
Directors’ report

Directors’ report
Your Directors present the annual financial report of Bega Cheese Limited {"Bega Cheese”) for the year
ended 30 June 2008.

Directors
The following persons held office as Directors during and since the financial year:

Barry Andrew Irvin Thomas Michael Arcy
Chaiman Dairy farmer

Dairy farmer Director since April, 1998
Director since September, 1989

Maxwvell John Roberts Richard Elhwyn Platts

Deputy Chairman - Dairy farmer

Dairy farmer Director since November, 2000

Director since September, 1983

Richard Charles Parbery
Deputy Chairman

Dairy farmer and accountant
Director since September, 1988

Principal activities

The principal activity of Bega Cheese in the course of the finarcial year was receiving, processing,
manufacturing and distributing dairy and associated products. Bega continued to monitor its
investment in Tatura Milk Industries Limited {“Tatura Milk"). A number of key issues in relation to the
activities of Bega Cheese during the year ended 30 June 2008 are set out in the Chairman’s report and
the Chief Executive Officer’s report, which are both to be read in conjunction with this Directors’ report.

Result for the period Consolidated Company
Full year 24 April to Full year Full year
30 June
2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ S $

Profit attributable to members

after Co-operative Premium and

income tax and before payment

of dividends 33.909.341 13843761 14.087.356 9.768,916

Dividends

in respect of the finandal year ended 30 June 2008 the Directors have recommended the payment of
an ordinary unfranked dividend of 10 cents per share {2007 - 8 cents per share]. If the recommended
dividend is approved by the members at the Annual General Meeting, it will represent distributions in
the order of $2,479,581 {2007 - $1,738,026).

Review of operations

A comprehensive review of operations is set out in the Chairman’s report and the Chief Executive
Officer’s report. The performance of the business units in Bega Cheese exceeded the prior period's
results. The profit for the year by Tatura Milk was in line with expectations, and represents a significant
turn around for the business.

Changes in state of affairs
Other than that disclosed in the Chairman’s and the Chief Executive Officer’s reports, there have been
no significant changes in the state of affairs of Bega Cheese since the last Annual Report.

Indemnification of officers and auditors

During the financial year, Bega Cheese paid a premium in respect of a coniract insuring the Directors
{as named above| and all executive officers of Bega Cheese and of any related body corporate against a
liability incurred as a Director or executive officer not exceeding the extent permitted by law.  The
contracts of insurance prohibit disclosure of the nature of the liabilities and the amount of the
premiums. The company has not otherwise, during or since the financial year, except to the extent
permitted by law, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the company or any
related body corporate against a liability incurred as such an officer or auditor.
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Period ended 30 June 2008
Directors’ report

Directors’ report {cont)

Subsequent events

There has not been any matter or circumstance occurring subsequent to the end of the financial year
that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the consolidated entity, the
resuits of those operations, or the state of affairs of the consolidated entity in future years.

Future developments

Disciosure of information regarding likely developments in the operations of the consolidated entity in
future financial years and the expected results of those operations is likely to result in unreasonabie
prejudice to the consolidated entity. Accordingly, this information has not been disclosed in this report.

Environmental regulations

The operations of Bega Cheese are subject to environmental legislation and regulations. The
Environmental Management Committee continues to manage this important area. During the finandial
year, this committee made steady progress, working with the Department of Environment and Ciimate
Change, to ensure that Bega Cheese meets its obligations. The construction of a wet weather storage
dam is now nearing completion, As a result, the Directors believe there is no significant exposure on
environmental issues.

Meetings of Directors and Board committees
The following table sets out the number of meetings of Bega Cheese’s Directors held during the year
ended 30 June 2008 and the number of meetings attended by each Director and other members:

Meetings of Board of Directors

Held and Eligible Attended
Barry Irvir 17 17
Max Roberts 17 17
Richard Parbery 17 17
Tom D'Arcy 17 17
Richard Platts 17 17

Finance Committee

Held and Eligible Attended
Richard Parbery — Director 13 13
Tom D'Arcy — Director 13 13
Brett Kelly — Chief Accountant / Company Secretary 13 13
Michael Hampson — Commercial Manager Finance 13 7
Michelle Sonnenschein — PPU Finance Manager 13 12
Jane Grose — Financial Accountant 13 13

Michael Hampson and Michelle Sonnenschein gave apologies in advance of the meetings they
were unable to attend.

Communications Committee

Held and Eligible Attended
Max Raoberts — Director 6 6
Richard Platts — Director 6 6
Ken Garner — Farm Development Manager 6 6

This report is made in accordance with a resclution of the Directors.

L™ s

Barry Irvin
Chairman

Nh«b—\.

Richard Parbery
Deputy Chairman

?

Bega, NSW
30 September 2008
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Period ended 30 June 2008
Auditor’s Independence declaration

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

DeIOitteQ ABN 74 480 121 060

Level 2

& Brindabella Circuit

Brindabella Business Park ACT 2609
GPO Box 823

Canberra ACT 2601 Australia

DX 5661

Tel: +61 (0} 2 6263 7000
Fax: +81 (0) 2 6263 7001
www.deloitte.com.au

The Board of Directors
Bega Cheese Limited
2345 Ridge Street
North Bega, NSW 2550

30 September 2008

Dear Board Members
Bega Cheese Limited

In accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, | am pleased to provide the following
dedlaration of independence to the directors of Bega Cheese Limited.

As [ead audit partner for the audit of the financial statements of Bega Cheese Limited for the financial year
ended 30 June 2008, | declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no
contraventions of:

(i} the auditor independence requirements of the Corporaticns Act 2001 in relation to the audit;
and

{ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in reiation to the audit.

Yours sincerely

Nedete, “Toele 7 Temodsn

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU
David Black

Partner

Chartered Accountants

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.
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Period ended 30 June 2008
Independent auditor’s report

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
ABN 74 4380 121 060

Deloitte.

& Brindabella Circuit

Brindabella Business Park ACT 2609
GPO Box 823

Canberra ACT 2601 Australia

DX 5661

Tel: +61 (0} 2 6263 7000
Fax: +61 {0) 2 6263 7001
www.deloitte.com.au

Independent auditor’s report
to the Members of Bega Cheese Limited

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Bega Cheese Limited, which comprises the balance
sheet as at 30 June 2008, and the income statement, cash flow staternent and statement of recognised income
and expense for the year ended on that date, a summary of significant accounting policies, other explanatory
notes and the directors’ deciaration of the consolidated entity comprising the company and the entities it
controiled at the year's end or from time to time during the financial year as set out on pages 11 to 41.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Finandcial Report

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards {including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and
the Corporations Act 2001. This responsibility incudes establishing and maintaining internal control relevant
to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting
estimates that are reasonabie in the circumstances. In Note 1, the directors also state, in accordance with
Accounting Standard AASB 101 FPresentation of Finandal Statements, that compliance with the Australian
equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards ensures that the financial report. comprising the
financial statements and notes, comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Auditor’s Responsibifity

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply with
relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessmenit of the
risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of
the financial report in order to design audit pracedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting poiicies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professicnal Standards Legislation.
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Period ended 30 June 2008
Independent auditor's report

Auditor’s Independernice Dedlaration

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act
2001,

Auditors Cpinion
In our opinion:
fa] the financial report of Bega Cheese Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including:
(i} giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June
2008 and of their performance for the year ended on that date; and
(i} complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting
Interpretations) and the Corporations Reguilations 200 {; and

{b] the financial report also complies with international Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in Note 1.

T MeN\ee ’r;%\* ,g\%‘*

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

David Black
Partrner

Chartered Accountants
Canberra, 30 September 2008

Liabiiity imited by 2 scheme approved under Professional Standards Legistation.
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Period ended 30 June 2008
Directors’ declaration

Directors” declaration

The Directors declare that:

a. Inthe Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to
pay its debts as and when they become due and payable; and

b. in the Directors” opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance
with the Corporations Act 2001, incduding compliance with accounting standards and giving a true
and fair view of the financial peosition and perfarmance of the company and the consolidated
entity.

On behalf of the Directors

L™

Barry Irvin
Chairman

L

Richard Parbery
Deputy Chairman

Bega, N5W/
30 September 2008
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Financial Statements
Period ended 30 June 2008
Income statement

Income statement for the financial period ended 30 June 2008

Note

Revenue 3
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income 3
Distribution expenses

Marketing expenses

Occupancy expenses

Administration expenses

Finance expenses 3
Discount on acquisition of business 25

Profit before co-operative premium,
income tax and dividends on members’
shares classified as borrowing expenses

Co-operative premium 3

Profit before income tax and dividends on members’
shares classified as borrowing expenses

Income tax {expense}/benefit 4

Dividends on members’ shares paid to members
classified as borrowing expenses 21

Profit attributable to members after dividends

an members' shares classified
as borrowing expenses

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Minority interest

Statement of recognised income and expense
for the financial period

Gain In cash flow hedges taken to equity 20
Net income recognised directly in equity
Profit for the period

Total recognised income for the period

Attributable to
Equity holders of the parent
Minority interest

Total recognised income for the period

The financial statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Consolidated Company
Fullyear 24 Aprilto 30 June Full year Full year
2008 2007 2008 2007
5 3 s 5
696,618,657 333,486,583 377.641,597 293,059,242
(613,620,914 [299.728,272) [340,529,480) {260,678,825)
82,997,743 33758311 37,112,117 32,380417
6,223,164 6,257,470 7,022,099 5,911,949
[18,249,105) {10.720,107) {11,188,500] [9.532,518)
[5.961,326) [4,488,051}) {4,337,845) [4.221,674)
{1,630,540) {1.186,731)] {1.161,053) [1,076,529)
[19.825,402) 8,462,904 [6.304,485} {4.669,356)
(6,868,134} [1.476,509) {1.753,422) [702.903)
- 8,555,431 - -
36,686,400 22,236,210 12,388,211 18,089,386
- {9.064,305) - [{9.064,305)
36,686,400 13,172,605 19,388,911 9.025,081
[2.777,059) 671,156 {5.301,554) 743,835
- [3.097.202) - (3,097,202
33,909,341 10,746,559 14,087,357 6,671,714
27,842,858 11,988,149 14,087,357 6,671,714
6,066,483 {1.241,590} - -
33,909,341 10,746,559 14,087,357 6,671,714
2,081,336 1,736,909 - -
2,081,336 1,736,909 - -
33,909,341 10,746,559 14,087,357 6,671,714
35,990,677 12,483,468 14,087,357 6,671,714
29,299,793 13,396,038 14,087,357 6,671,714
6,690,884 {212,570} - -
35,990,677 12,483,468 14,087,357 6,671,714
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Financial Statements
Period ended 30 June 2008
Balance sheet

Balance sheet as at 30 June 2008

Consolidated Company
Fullyear 24 Aprilto 30 June Full year Full year
2008 2007 2008 2007
Note 5 5 S S
Current assets
Cash 27 11.416,009 10,237,574 8,626,688 5,060,827
Trade and other receivables 7 77.446,198 57.348,734 33,731,083 24,467,833
Other financial assets 8 6,473,769 3,239,071 537,012 275,651
Inventories 9 111,439,657 58,486,072 46,450,586 23,062,654
Other 10 1,935,046 2,224,207 1,442,016 682,928
Total current assets 208,710,679 131,535,658 90,787,385 53,549,893
Non-current assets
Other financial assets I 827.234 1,716,566 38,015,002 38,015,002
Property, plant and equipment 12 118,995,304 126,829,116 53,980,772 55,217,822
Deferred tax assets 4 13,432,074 17,101,135 3,772,790 9,074,344
Intangible assets 14 404,640 404.640 404,640 404,640
Total non-current assets 133,659,252 146,051,457 96,173,204 102,711,808
Total assets 342,369,931 277,587,115 186,960,589 156,261,701
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 15 100,852,966 73,038,555 57,678,243 52,864,505
Borrowings 17 31,530,739 26,543,410 9,500,000 4,000,000
Provisions 8 7.802,807 7,801,978 3,059,294 2,188,800
Total current liabilities 140,186,512 107,383,943 70,237,537 59,053,305
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 16 450,000 - 5,259,688 9,284,532
Borrowings 17 27,735,129 24,942,187 9,000,000 -
Provisions i8 2,915,384 3,178,756 2,521,153 2,687,076
Total non-current fiabilities excluding members' shares 31,100,513 28,120,943 16,780,841 11,971,608
Total liabilities excluding members’ shares 171,287,025 135,504,886 87,018,378 71,024,913
Met assets excluding members' shares 171,082,906 142,082,229 99,942,211 85,236,788
Member's shares classified as a lfability 19 - 22,402,838 - 22,402,838
Net assets after members' shares classified as a liability 171,082,906 119,679,391 99,942,211 62,833,950
Members' funds
Members’ shares 19 24,795,805 22,402,838 24,795,805 22,402,838
Reserves 20 43,500,351 42,034,287 32,563,182 32,563,182
Retained earnings 20 61,655,160 35,587,203 42,583,224 30,270,768
Total members’ funds before members' funids
classified as a liability 129951316 100,024,328 99,942,211 85,236,788
Less members’ shares classified as a liability 19 - [22,402,838) - {22,402,838)
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 129,951,316 77,621,490 99,942,211 62,833,950
Minority interest 41,131,590 42,057,901 - -
Total equity 171,082,906 119,679.391 99,942,211 562,833,950

The financial statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Financial Statements
Period ended 30 June 2008
Cash flow statement

Cash flow statement for the financial period ended 30 June 2008

Note

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers

Payments to suppliers and employees
Co-operative premium paid

Dividends paid classified as borrowing expenses
Interest and other costs of financing paid

Net cash provided by/{used in)

operating activities 27¢

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received

Dividend received

Payment for property, plant and equipment
Froceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Payment for intangible assets

Payments for shares in unlisted companies 25

Proceeds from sale of shares in listed companies

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings

Repayment of borrowings

Repayment of leases

Distributions to former members

Share capital subscribed by members

Share capital purchased back from former members
Share capital purchased back from minority interests
Loans repaid by/[made to) minority interests
Dividends paid to members

Dividends paid to minority interests

Net cash [used in)/provided by
financing activities

Net increase/[decrease) in
cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
the beginning of the period

Cash and cash equivalents at the

end of the period 27a

The financial statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Consoiidated Company
Fullyear 24 Aprilto 30 June Full year Full year
2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ $ 5
678,981,239 343,955,963 389,053,393 307,765,191
[669,239,755) (308,272,270} {391,134,299) [265,457,408]
- [2.064,305) - {9,.064,305)
- {3.097.202) - [3.097,202)
[3.184,762) (1111690 [684.499) {878,324)
6,556,722 22,410,496 [2.765,405} 29,267,952
923,329 1.086,8%6 458,080 995,796
802 - - -
(8,997,475} [3.9172.597) [5.656,315) (3,767.613)
2,838,986 63,412 47,300 46,412
- {404.640) - {404.640}
- - {3.635,865] {24.546,619)
248,213 1,701,914 - 1,048,736
{4.986,145) [1.470,015) {8,786,800] [26,627.928)
20,000,000 14,540,819 14,500,000 4,000,000
{10,410,836) [15,583,019) - {8,000,000)
{2.096,462) {1.124,337) - -
- [64,415] - (64.415]
2,612,047 165,023 2,612,047 165,023
{219,080} (1,336,538} [219,080) {1.336,538}
{1.083.205] - - -
12,177.219 {12.177,219) - -
(1,774,901} - {1.774,901) -
[19.596,924) {2.779.954] - -
{392,142) [18,359,640) 15,118,066 [5.235.930}
1,178,435 2,580,841 3,565,861 {2,595,906)
10,237,574 7.656,733 5,060,827 7,656,733
11,416,009 10,237.574 8,626,688 5.060,827
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Notes to the financial statements

General information and summary of accounting policies
Bega Cheese Limited ["the Company” or "Bega Cheese") is a company domiciled in New South Wales, Australia. The address of the
Company's registered office and principal place of business is 2345 Ridge Street, Bega, New South Wales.

Statement of compiiance

The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the
Corporations Act 2001, Accounting Standards and interpretations, and complies with other requirements of the law. Accounting
Standards include Australian equivatents to International Financial Reporting Standards (A-FRS). Compliance with A-FRS ensures that
the financial statements and notes comply with International Financial Reporting Standards [IFRS). The financial statements were
authorised for issue by the directors on 30 September 2008.

Basis of preparation

The financial report has been prepared on the basfs of historical cost except as stated. Cost is based on the fair values of consideration
given in exchange for assets. Accounting policies are selected and applied in & manner which ensures that the resuiting financial
information satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that the substance of the underlying transactions or

other events is reported.

On 23 April 2008, The Bega Co-gperative Society Limited was restructured into a company, Bega Cheese Limited, incorporated under
the Corporations Act 2001. As a result of the restructure, shares in Bega Cheese Limited are recognised in the balance sheet as issued
capital and dividends paid as an equity transaction. Previously under the co-operative structure, shares were classified as a liabifity and
dividends classified as borrowing costs to he consistent with the undetlying financial instrument. All dividends paid in 2008 have been
classified as dividends in the financial statements to reflect the closing capital structure.

Bega Cheese became a majority sharchelder in Tatura Milk Industries Limited [Tatura Milk') on 23 April 2007. Accordingly,
conselidated financial statements have been prepared from this date onwards and the prior year periad for the consolidated accounts
is from 24 April to 30 June 2007,

Judgements made by management in the application of A-FRS that have significant effects on the financial statements and estimates
with a significant risk of materfal adjustments in the next year are disclosed, where applicable, in the relevant notes to the financial

statements.

Early adoption of standards
The consolidated entity has elected to apply AASB8 "Operating Segments" to the annual reporting period beginning 1 fuly 2007, The
effect of early adoption is that segment information has been removed from the financial statements for the current and prior years.

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

At the date of authorisation of the financial report, a number of Standards and Interpretations were in issue but not yet effective. Initial
application of the following Standards wifl not affect any of the amounts recognised in the financial report, but may change the
disclosures presently made in relation to the consolidated entity's and the Company's financial report;

Effective for annual reporting
Standard periods beginning on or after

* AASB 101 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ [revised September 2007} i January 2009

Initial application of the fallowing standards and Interpretations is not expected to have any material impact on the financial report of

the Consolidated Entity and the Company.
Effective for annual reporting

Standard or Interpretation periods begirnning on or after
= AASB Interpretation 12 “Service Concession Arrangements’ I January 2008

* AASB Interpretation 14 ‘AASB 119 - The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding 1 January 2008

Requirements and their Interaction’

* AASB Interpretation 13 ‘Customer Loyalty Programmes’ 1 July 2008

» interpretation 16 "Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation” 1 October 2008

* Interpretation 15 "Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate” I lanuary 2009

* AASB 123 ‘Borrowing Costs’ - revised standard 1 January 2009

» AASB 2008-2 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Puttable Financial 1 January 2009

Instruments and Cbligations arising on Liquidation’

The potential effect of the initial application of the expected issue of an Australian equivalent accounting standard to the following
Standard has not yet been determined:

Effective for annual reporting
Standard or Interpretation periods beginning on or after

+ IFRS 3 ‘Business Combinations’ and |AS 27 'Separate and Consolidated Financial Statements’ 1 January 2009
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Significant accounting policies
The following accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of the financial report:

fa)

by

fc)

{d

{el

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the {financial statements of Bega Cheese and entities controlled by Bega
Cheese {referred to as “the consolidated entity” in these financial statements). Control is achieved where Bega Cheese has the
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefit from its activities.

The resufts of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income staterment from the
effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal as appropriate.

The excess of the net fair value of the identiflable assets, fiabilities and contingent liabilities recognised over the fair value of the
cost of the investment is treated as a discount on acquisition. The discount on acquisition is recognised in profit and loss in the
period of investmenit.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with
those used by Bega Cheese. All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.
Where the transaction value of common control transactions differ from their consolidated book value, the difference is
recognised as a contribution by or distribution to equity participants by the transacting entities.

Minority interests in the net assets of the subsidiary are identffied separately from Bega Cheese's equity interest. Minority interests
consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the original business combination and the minority's share of changes in
equity since the date of the combination. Losses applicable to the minority in excess of the mingrity's interest in the subsidiary's
equity are allocated against the interests of the consolidated entity except to the extent that the minority has a binding obfigation
and is able to make an additional investment to cover the losses.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the purchase method. The cost of the business combination is
measured as the aggregate of the fair values (at the date of exchange) of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, plus any
costs attributable to the business combination. The acquiree’s identiffable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are recognised
at their fair values at the acquisition date.

The interest of minority sharehalders in the acquiree is initially measured at the minority's proportion of the net fair value of the
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised.

Cash
Cash comprises cash on hand and cash in banks.

Derivative financial instruments

The consolidated entity enters into a variety of derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to interest rate and fareign
exchange rate risk, including forward foreign exchange contracts and interest rate swaps. The consolidated entity does not
enter into derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

Hedge accounting

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are deferred
in equity, except where the hedge is used to fair value the initial measurement of the matched transaction. The gain or loss
relating to the ineffective portion fs recognised immediately in profit or loss.

At the inception of the hedge relationship the consolidated entity documents the relationship between the hedging instrument
and the hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and its strateqy for undertaking various hedge transactions.
Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the consolidated entity documents whether the hedging
instrument that is used in a hedging relationship is highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged
item.

Amounts deferred In equity are recycled in profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item is recognised in profit or loss.
However, when the forecast transaction that Is hedged results in the recagnition of a non-financial asset or a nor-financial
fiability, the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are transferred from equity and inciuded in the initial measurement of
the cost of the asset or liability.

Note 2 contains detalls of the fair value of derivative instruments used for hedging purposes. Moverments in the hedging reserve
in equity are also detailed in note 20.

Dividends payable

Dividends paid by the Company in the period ending June 2008 have been classified as dividends in the financial statements to
mirror the treatment of the members' shares being classified as equity. For the period ending June 2007, as members’ shares
were classified as a liability, dividends paid by Bega Cheese were classified as interest expense.
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{a)

]

(i

)

Employee benefits
Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, sick leave and long service
leave when it is probable that settlement will be required and they are capable of being measured reliably.

Provisions made in respect of employee benefits expected to be settied within 12 months are measured at their nominal values
using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

Provisions made in respect of employee entitiements which are not expected to be settled within 12 months are measured as the
present value of the estimated future cash outflows ta be made by the consolidated entity in respect of services provided by
employees up to the reporting date.

Contributions to defined contribution superannuation plans are expensed when incurred.

Financial assets

Investments are recognised and derecognised on trade date where purchase or sale of an investment is under a contract whose
terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at
fair value, net of transaction costs.

Other financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets “at fair value through profit or loss’,
“available-for-sale " and ‘loans and recefvables’. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is
determined at the time of initial recognition.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

The consolidated entity has classified certain shares as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets held for
trading purpases are classified as current assets and are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss. Fair value Is determined as market value less expected transaction costs.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Certain shares held by the consolidated entity are classified as being available-for-sale and are stated at fair value, Fair value is
determined in the manner described in note 2. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair vaiue are recognised directly in
reserves with the exception of impairment losses which are recognised directly in profit or loss. Where the investment is disposed
of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in reserves is included in profit or loss for the

period.

Foreign currency

All foreign currency transactions during the financial year are brought to account using the exchange rate in effect at the date of
the transaction. Foreign currency monetary items at reporting date are translated at the exchange rate existing at the reporting

date.

Exchange differences are recognised in profit and loss in the period in which they arise except that exchange differences on
transactions entered into in order to hedge the purchase or sale of specific goods and services are deferred and included in the

measurement of the purchase or sale.

Goods and services tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax [GST), except:

] where the amount of G5T incurred fs not recoverable from the taxation authority, It is recognised as part of the cost of
acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or

ii) for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from the taxation authority is included as part of receivables.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basls. The GST component of cash flows arising from investing
and financing activities which is recoverable from the taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows.

Government grants

Government grants are assistance by the government in the form of transfers or resources to the consolidated entity in return for
past or future compfiance with certain conditions relating to the operating activities of the entity. Government grants are
recognised as income over the period necessary to match them with the related costs which they are intended to compensate,

on a systematic basis.
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i

fm)

Impairment of other tangible and intangible assets

At each reporting date, the consolidated entity reviews the carrying amounts of it assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in arder to determine the extent of the impairment loss [if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are
independent from other assets, the consolidated entity estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of calculation can be identified, carporate assets are also aflocated to
individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amotnt is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. in assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset {or cash-generating unit} is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset {cash-generating unit] is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or Joss
immediately unless the refevant asset is carried at fair value, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation

decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset {cash-generating unit) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the Increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment lass been recognised for the asset {cash-generating unit).
The reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately In income unless the relevant asset is carried at fair value, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.

Income tax

Current tax is caiculated by reference to the amount of income taxes payable or recoverable in respect of the taxable profit or tax
lass of the period. it is calculated using tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by reporting date.
Current tax for current and prior periods is recognised as a liability or asset to the extent that it is unpaid or refundable.

Deferred tax is accounted for using the comprehensive balance sheet fiabifity method in respect of temporary differences arising
from differences between the carrylng amount of assets and fiabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax base
of those items. In principle, deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable amounts will be available against which deductible

temporary differences or unused tax losses can be utilised.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and interests
in joint ventures except where the consolidated entity is able to control the reversal of temporary differences and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with these investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differerices and they are expected to reverse in the

foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period(s} when the asset and
liabifity giving rise to them are realised or settled, based on tax rates [and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the reporting date. The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects tax consequences that would follow
from the manner in which the consolidated entity expects, at reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets

and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to income tax levied by the same taxation autharity and when the
consolidated entity intends to settle the tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax for the period

Current and deferred tax is recognised as an expense or income in the income statement , except when it relates to items
credited or debited directly to equity. in which case the deferred tax is also recognised directly in equity, or where it arises from
the Initfal accounting for a business combination, in which case it is taken to account in the determination of goodwill or excess.

Intangible assets

Brand names
Brand names recognised by the company have an indefinite useful life and are not amertised, Each period, the useful life of this
asset is reviewed to determine whether events and circumstances continue te support an indefinite useful life for the assets. Such

assets are tested for impairment in accordance with the policy stated in note 14,
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inventories

Inventories are vatued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs, including an appropriate portion of fixed and variable
overhead expenses, are assigned to inventory on hand by the method most appropriate to each particular class of inventory, with
the majority being valiled on a first in first out basis. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated
costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.

Leased assets

Leases in terms of which the consolidated entity assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as
finance leases. Upon initial recognition the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair vaiue and the
present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with
the accounting policy applicable to that asset.

Other leases are operating leases and are riot recognised on the consolidated entity's balance sheet. Operating lease payments
are recognised as an expense on a straight line basis over the lease term.

Loans and receivables
Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables are recorded at amortised cost less impairment,

Joint venture operations

Interests in joint venture operations are reported in the finarcial statements by including the consolidated entity’s share of assets
employed in the joint venture, the share of liabilities incurred in relation to the joint venture and the share of any expenses
incurred in relation to the joint venture in their respective classification categories.

Members’ shares

Up until 23 April 2008, members of Bega Cheese recognised their shares under The Bega Co-operative Society Limited structure
as equity in accordance with the ordinary meaning of co-operatives in Australia. In the financial statements for the year ended 30
June 2007, members’ shares were classified as a liability in accordance with A-IFRS. After the restructure on 23 Aptil 2008,
members’ shares are classified as equity in the financial statements. See note 19 for further details.

Payables
Trade payables and other accounts payable are recognised when the consolidated entity becomes obliged to make future
payments resulting from the purchase of goods and services.

Property, plant and equipment

Assets acquired are recorded at the cost of acquisition, being the purchase consideration determined as at the date of acquisition
plus costs incidental to the acquisition less accumulated depreciation and impairment.

In the event that settiernent of all or part of the cash consideration given in the acquisition of an asset is deferred for longer than
12 months, the fair value of the purchase consideration is determined by discounting the amounts payable in the future to their
present value as at the date of acquisition.

Depreciation is provided on property. plant and equipment, including freehold buildings but excluding land and investment
properties. Depreciation is caiculated on a systematic basis so as to write off the net cost of each asset over its expected usefut life
to its estimated residual value, The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method is reviewed at the end of each
annual reporting period. The following estimated useful fives are used in the calculation of depreciation:

- Buildings 20 - 40 years
- Plant and equipment 5-20years
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the consclidated entity has a present obligation, the future sacrifice of economic berefits is
probable, and the amount of the provision can be meastired reliable.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at
reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision js measured using
the cashflows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amaount is the present value of those cashflows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected ta be recovered from a third party, the
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that recovery will be received and the amount of the receivable can be

measured reliably.

Research and development costs
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.
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{w] Revenue recognition

Sale of goods and disposal of assets
Revenue from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets is recognised when the consolidated entity has passed to the buyer

the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods.

Royalties
Royalty revenue is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreement.

Rental
Rental revenue is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of relevant rental agreements.

Dividend and interest revenue
Dividend revenue is recognised on a receivable basis. Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into
account the effective yield on the financial asset,

Financial Risk Management :

The consolidated entity's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk, price and
commodity risk], credit risk and liquidity risk. The consolidated entity’s overall risk management program focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the exchange contracts and interest rate swaps
to hedge certain risk exposures. Derivatives are exclusively used for hedging purposes, ie. not as trading or other speculative
instruments. The consolidated entity uses different methods to measure different types of risk to which it is exposed. These methods
include sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rate, foreign exchange and other price risks and aging analysis for credit risk.

Risk management is overseen by the Finance Committee under policies approved by the Board of Directors and carried out by the
Chief Accountant. This officer identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-operation with the consolidated entity’s
operating units, The Board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific areas, such as
foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative financial instruments, and

investment of excess liquidity.

The consolidated entity and the Company held the following financial instruments:

Consolidated Company
30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
2008 2007 2008 2007
by $ $ S
Financiai Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 11,416,009 10,237,574 8,626,688 5,060,827
Trade and other receivables 77,446,198 57.348,734 33,731,083 24,467,833
Financial assets at fair value through profit
and loss 827,234 827,131 814,523 814523
Derivative financial instruments 6,473,769 3,239,071 537,012 275,651
Available for sale financial assets - 889,435 - -
Held to maturity investments - - 37,200,479 37,200479
Qther financial assets 1,935,046 2,224,207 1,442,016 682,928
98,098,256 74,766,152 82,351,801 68,502,241
Financial Liabtlities
Trade and other payables 100,765,954 72,762,904 62,400,919 61,873,386
Borrowings 59,245,868 51,485,597 18,500,000 4,000,000
Derivative financial instrumenis 537,012 275,651 537,012 275,651
160,568,834 124,524,152 81,437,931 66,149,037

Bega Cheese | 2008 Annual Report | 20



Financial Statements
Period ended 30 June 2008
Notes to the financial statements

2 Financial Risk Management (cant.)
[a] Market Risk

i) Foreign exchange risk

The consolidated entity operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency
exposures, primarily with respect to the US dollar. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and
recognised assets and liabilities denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. The risk is measured
using sensitivity analysis and cash flow forecasting.

The consolidated entity's policy is to hedge either all confirmed orders or 100% of anticipated cash flows in US dollars for the
subsequent & months. Approximately 100% (2007 - 100%) of projected sales qualify as “highly probable” forecast
transactions for hedge accounting purposes. At year end, the following foreign exchange contracts were held:

USD dollars
Contracts to sell USD - gross amount
Contracts to buy USD - gross amount

Japanese Yen
Contracts to sell Yen - gross amount

Consolidated

Analysis as at 30 June 2008
Contracts to sell USD

Less than 3 maonths

3 to 6 months

Longer than & months

Total contracts

Contracts ta buy USD
Less than 3 months

Analysis as at 30 June 2007
Contracts to sell LISD

Less than 3 months

3 ta 6 months

Longer than 6 months

Total contracts

Company

Analysis as at 30 June
Company

Less than 3 months

3 to 6 months

Longer than 6 months

Total contracts

Consolidated Company

30 Jjune 30 June 30 June 30 June

2008 2007 2008 2007

5 $ Y $

96,914,695 81,588,013 7.992,490 5,520,493
1,274,004 - 1,274,004 -
¥ ¥ ¥ ¥
2,001,178,070 1,532,763,230 - -

Caonsolidated

Average exchange rate

Principal amount

Yen usp Yen usD
2008 2008 2008 2008
¥ 5
88.48 0.84 1.091,229,670 18,922,206
89.77 0.91 209,948,400 67,992,489
- 0.91 - 10,000,000
__2,001,178,070_ 96914695
- 0.87 - 1,274,004
- 1,274,004
Average exchange rate Principal amount
Yen usp Yen usD
2007 2007 2007 2007
¥ s
94.94 0.80 596,063,230 8,652,840
102.96 0.83 696,600,000 40,650,463
102.05 0.83 240,100,000 32,284,710
1,532,763,230 81,588,013
Company
Average exchange rate Principal amount
usD usD usb usp
2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $
0.84 081 6,005,703 3,585,320
092 0.83 1,986,787 1,650,463
- 083 - 284,710

7,992,490

5,520,493
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Financial Risk Management [cont.)

The carrying amounts of the corisolidated entity's financial assets and liabilities are denominated in Australian doltars except

as set out befow:
Consolidated Company
30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ § 5
USD Balances
‘Receivables - Trade debtors 24,923,245 14,312,859 4,239,884 3,854,621
Sell foreign currency (fair value hedges)

- Maturing in less than 3 months {15.358,110) [10.458,238} - -

- Maturing within 3 - 12 months [5.325,251) - -
Sell foreign currency (cash flow hedges)

- Maturing in fess than 3 months {4.239,884} {3.854,621) {4.239,884) {3,854.621)
Net exposure - - - -
Japanese Yen balances
Receivables - Trade debtors 5.467,33] 2,216,686 - .
Sell foreign currency (fair flow hedges)

- Maturing in less than 3 months {5.467.331) [2,216,686) - -

Net exposure

Consolidated entity and Company sensitivity
A 10 per cent strengthening of the Australian dollar against the following cuirencies at 30 June would have
increased/fdecreased) equity by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular

interest rates, remain constant. There is no affect on profit or loss.

Consolidated Company
30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
2008 2007 2008 2007
) $ $ 5
Equity Equity Equity Equity
USD Balances 3,102,842 3,977,049 - -
Yen Balances 675,256 442,178 - -

Profit or loss
USD Balances -
Yen Balances -

Profit or loss

Profit or loss

Profit or loss

A 10 per cent weakening of the Austrafian dollar against the following currencies at 30 June would have
increased/[decreased) equity by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular

interest rates, remain constant. There is no affect on profit or loss.

Consolidated Company
30 June 30 June 30 June 30 dune
2008 2007 2008 2007
$ ) 5 $
Equity Equity Equity Equity
USD Balances [5.417,662) {6,944,057] - -
Yen Balances [1,179.019) [1,158,830) - -
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i

Financial Risk Management [cont.)

Price risk
The consolidated entity and the parent entity are exposed to price risk. This arises from investments held by the
consolidated entity and classified on the balance sheet either as available for sale or at fair vaiue through profit ar loss.

To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity securities, the consolidated entity selects its portfolio to match
business synergies and limits its exposure by agreeing all investments at the board level.

The price risk for the unlisted securities is immaterial in terms of the possible impact on profit or loss or total equity except for
the factors disclosed in note 11. No statistical analysis is performed as the investment is evaluated on criteria other than
financial ones.

As at the reporting date, the consolidated entity and Company had the following variabie rate borrowings and interest rate
swap contracts outstanding:

Consolidated Company
Average 30 June Average 30 June
Interest Rate 2008 Interest Rate 2008
% $ % $
Bank overdrafts and bank loans 8.1 56,332,045 8.6 18,500,000
Less loans at fixed rates 8.0 {21,332,045) ; -
Bank overdrafts and bank loans
At variable rates 8.2 35,000,000 8.6 18,500,000
Less interest rate swaps
[notional principal amount) 7.4 {%.000,000| 7.4 {9.000,000)
Net Exposure to
cash flow interest rate risk 8.0 26,000,000 8.3 2,500,000
Consolidated Company
Average 30 June Average 30 June
Interest Rate 2007 Interest Rate 2007
% $ % §
Bank overdrafts and bank loans 7.5 51,485,597 7.1 4,000,000
Less loans at fixed rates 7.9 [30,862,461) 71 (4,000,000}
Bank overdrafis and bank loans
Atvariable rates 6.8 20,623,136 - -
Less interest rate swaps
{notional principal amount) - - - -
Net Exposure to
cash flow interest rate risk 6.8 20,623,136 - -

An analysis by maturities is provided in [¢) below,

The consolidated entity and the Company analyses its interest rate exposure on a dynamic basis. Various scenarios are
simulated taking into consideration such as refinancing, renewal of existing positions, alternative financing and hedging.
Based on these scenarios, the consolidated entity calculates the impact on profit and loss of a defined interest rate shift.

Based an the various scenarios, the consolidated entity and the Company manages its cash flow interest rate risk by using
floating-tofixed interest rate swaps, Such interest rate swaps have the economic effect of converting borrowings from
floating rates to fixed rates. Generally, the consolidated entity raises long-term borrowings at floating rates and swaps them
into fixed rates that are lower than those available if the consolidated entity borrowed at fixed rates directly. Under the
interest rate swaps, the consolidated entity agrees with other parties to exchange, at specified intervals {mainly quarterly|,
the difference between fixed contract rates and floating-rate interest amounts calculated by reference to the agreed
notional principal amounts.

Consolidated entity sensitivity
At 30 June 2008, if interest rates had changed by -/+ 100 basis points from the year end rates with all other variables held
consiant, post tax profit for the year and equity would have been affected as follows, mainly as a result of highet/lower

interest charges from borrowing equivalents.
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Consolidated Company
30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
2008 2007 2008 2007
$ 3 $ 5
Equity Equity Equity Equity
100 basis points increase [96,603) {51,748} {42,144) [9,795)
100 basis points decrease 96,603 51,748 42,144 2,795
Profit or loss Profit or loss Profit or loss Profit or loss
100 basis points increase [96,603) {51,748) {42.144) [9,795)
100 basis points decrease 96,603 51,748 42,144 9,795

i}  Commodity Price Risk
The consolidated entity is exposed to commodity price risk in the global market for dairy products. Strategies to manage the
risk include;

* a proactive review of prices to secure forward supply at favourable rates;
* acommittee to oversee cheese purchases to take advantage of market conditions
* selling contracts based on input prices that track commodity levels

Consolidated entity and Company sensitivity

Due to the complex nature of the commodity supply and demand of the consofidated entity, a sensitivity analysis is not
possible. Whilst rising commodity prices increase the input cost of whey, milk, curd and cheese, it enables these price
increases to be passed on to customers, albeit with some time delay. The Company experiences simifar sensitivity issues.

b} Credit Risk
Credit risk is managed on an entity basis. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial instruments and
deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to wholesale and retail customers, including outstanding
receivables and committed transactions. For banks and financial institutions, only independently rated parties with a minimum
rating of ‘AA’ are accepted. For customers, the finance function assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its
financial position, past experience and other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in
accordance with limits set by the Board. The compliance with credit limits by customers is regularly monitored by management.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of the financial assets as summarised in note 7.
For customers, the consolidated entity generally retains title over the goods sold until full payment is recefved. For some trade
receivables the consolidated entity may also obtain security in the form of guarantees, deeds of undertaking or letters of credit
which can be called upon if the counterpaity is in default under the terms of the agreement. In addition, the Company obtains
Insurance over all export debtors and some Australiarn customers.

Financial risk management
The credit quality of inancial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to amounts past due at

the reporting date.

Consolidated Company
30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
2008 2007 2008 2007
Trade receivables S $ 5 $
Not past due 51,520,953 36,716,373 29,731,169 17,342,581
Due 0-30 days 7.028,001 9,109,074 1,905,690 2,283,666
Due 30-120 days 290,315 1,875,029 5,654 523,382
Due over 120 days 2,237 7,549 2,341 7,836
Trade receivables as at 3¢ June 68,841,506 47,708,025 31,644,854 20,157,465

All impaired balances are more than 60 days overdue,

There is considered to be limited credit risk in the balances of other receivables due to their nature as government debt, related
parties or entities with which close commercial relationships are maintained.
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(cl

Ligquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management mplies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of funding
through an adequate amount of comimitted credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. The consalidated entity
manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial
assets and llabilities. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, Group Finance aims at maintaining flexibility in
funding by keeping committed credit lines avaitable with a variety of counterparties, Surplus funds are generally only invested in
term deposits with credit ratings of at least “AA™.

Financing arrangements
The consolidated entity and the Company had access to the following un-drawn borrowing facilities at the reporting date:

Consolidated Company
30 June 30 June 30 June 30 June
2008 2007 2008 2007
S $ ) s

Expiring with one year

{overdraft and bill facility) 11,500,000 7,000,000 11,500,000 7,000,000
Expiring beyond one year {bank loans) 42,746,692 62,419,340 13,000,000 32,600,000
Total undrawn facilities 54,246,692 69,419,340 24,500,000 39,000,000

The bank overdraft facilities may be drawn at any time and may be terminated by the bank without notice. The bill facility may
be drawn at any time and is subject to annual review. Subject to the compliance with covenants, the bank loan facilities may be

drawn at any time.

Maturities of financial liabilities

The tables below analyse the consolidated entity and the Company's financial liabilities, net and gross settled derivative financial
instruments into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. For interest rate swaps the cash flows have

been estimated using forward interest rates applicable at the reporting date.

Consclidated entity Less than one Between 1-2 Between 2-5  Total contractual
At 30 June 2008 year years years cash flows  Carrying amount
$ $ 5 5 5

Non-derivative

financial liabilities
Finance leases {908,150) {208,150} {1.589,263) (3,405,563) {2,933,823)
Secured bank loans {34.363,287) {6,342,403) (23,072,908} {63,778,598) {56,332,045)
Trade and other payables {95.736,262) {6.000,000) - [101,736,262) [100.315,954)
Total non derivatives {131,007.699) {13.250,553} {24,662,171) [168,920,423) [159.581,822)
Derivative

financial liabilities
Forward contracts

- Hedge outflows {148,645) - - (148,645} {148,645)

- Hedge inflows 6,622414 - - 6,622,414 6.622,414
Total derivatives 6,473,769 - - 6,473,769 6,473,769
Net total __[124,533,930} (13,250,553] [24.662,171] [162,446,654) {153,108,053]
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Consolidated entity Less than one Between 1 -2 Between2-5  Total contractual
At 30 June 2007 year years years cash flows  Carrying amount
) 3 $ S $

Non-derivative

financial liabiities
Finance leases (1,145,592} [1,145,592| {3.421,681) {5.712,865] {4.742,716)
Secured bank loans {28,812,314] [6,037,003) (19,086,010} {53,935,327) {46,742,881)
Trade and other payables (63,744,909) { 11,000,000 - (74,744,909 [72.762,904)
Total non derivatives (93,702,815} (18,182,595) (22,507,691} {134,393,101) (124,248,501}
Derivative

financial liabilities
Forward contracts

- Hedge inflows 3,239,071 - - 3,239,071 3,239,071
Total derivatives 3,239,071 - - 3,239,071 3,239,071
Net total {90.,463,744) {18.182,595] [22,507,691] [131.154,030} {121,009,430)
Company Less than one Between 1-2 Between 2-5  Total contractual
At 30 lune 2008 year years years cash flows  Carrying amount

$ S 5 S 5

Non-derivative

financial liabilities
Secured bank loans 10,180,675} [664,650) {9.664,650) 20,509,975} [ 18,500,000}
Trade and other payables {57.464,181} [6,000,000) - [63,464,181] (62,400,919
Total non derivatives {67.644,856) {6.664,650) [9,664,650) [83,974,156) {80.900,219)
Detivative

financial liabilities
Forward contracts

- Hedge outflows {148,645) - - [148,645) {148,645)

- Hedge inflows 685,657 - - 685,657 685,657
Total derivatives 537.012 - - 537,012 537,012
Net total {67,107,844} [6,664,650) [2.664,650) [83,437.144) {80.363,207)
Company
At 30 June 2007
Non-derivative

financial liabilities
Secured bank loans [4,002,318) - - (4,002,318} {4.000,000)
Trade and other payables {52,855,391) {11.600,000} {63,855,391) [61,873,386)
Total non derivatives {56,857,709) {11.000,000) - {67,857,709) [65.873,386)
Derivative

financial liabilities
Forward cantracts

- Hedge outflows 275,651 - - 275,651 275,651
Total derivatives 275,651 - - 275,651 275,651
Net total {56,582,058) [11,000,000) - {67,582,058) {65,597,735)
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Financial Risk Management (cont.)

Fair value estimation

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilittes must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for disclosure
purposes. The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets [such as publicly traded derivatives, and trading and
available-for-sale securities) is based on quoted market prices at the reporting date. The quoted market price used for financial

assets held by the consolidated entity is the current bid price.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market {for example, investments in unlisted subsidiaries) is
determined using valuation techniques. The consolidated entity uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based
on market conditions existing at each balance date. The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present vaiue of the
estimated future cash flows. The fair value of forward exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange market rates at

the reporting date,

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade recelvables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due
to their short-term nature. The fair value of financial iabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future
contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the consolidated entity for similar financial

instruments.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial Fabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
financial statements approximates to their fair values.

Consolidated Company
Fullyear 24 Aprilto 30 June Full year Fult year
2008 2007 2008 2007
$ 5 s 5
Profit from operations
Revenue from continuing operations consisted of the
following items:
Sales of goods 696,618,657 333,486,583 377,641,597 293,059,242
Other income
interest revenue 944,495 1,035,292 479,247 944,191
Royalties 4,537,570 4,203,489 4,537,970 4,203,489
Rental revenue 621,715 606,019 584,931 601,429
Dividends from other entities 802 35,238 - 35,192
Other 118,182 377.432 1,419,951 127,648
Total 702,841,821 339,744,053 384,663,696 298,971,191
Profit before income tax has been arrived at after
[crediting)/charging the following gains and losses
frorm continuing operations;
{Gain}/loss on disposal of
propeity, plant and equipment {130,519} {46,533 16,068 {29,533)
investments 6,119 {2.411) - {2.185]
Impairment of fixed assets (466,573} - - -
Net foreign exchange losses 70,291 8,260 70,291 8,260
Operating lease minimum lease payments 1,469,603 658,143 558,575 567,280
Increase in inventory provisions 2,620,176 (2,108,173) 605512 322571
{Write back} of bad and doubtful debts {162,603) [36,591) (329,030} [36,591)
Employee benefits - defined contributions 4,883,660 2,767,974 3,031,263 2,537,485
Depreciation of non-current assets 13,656,247 8,255,567 6,829,997 6,826,694
Co-operative premium, provided or paid - 2,064,305 - 9,064,305
Finance costs
Interest on bark loans 4,453,890 1,053,843 771,212 588,569
Interest on obligations under finance leases 299,576 70,781 - -
Other interest expense 918,742 221,845 918,742 68,090
Impairmentt loss on available for sale investments 635,000 - - -
Dividends on members' shares classified as
financial liabifities - 3,097,202 - 3.097,202
Other finance costs 560,926 130,040 63,468 46,244
Total 6,868,134 4,573,711 1,753,422 3,800,105
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Income tax
Income tax recognised in profit
Total income tax [expense}/benefit comprises:

Current tax charge
Deferred tax [expense)/benefit from the origin-
ation and reversal of temporary differences
Adjustments recagnised in the current year
in relation to current tax of prior years

Total income tax {expense}/benefit

income tax [expense)/benefit
Reconciliation of income tax {expense)/benefit

charged to the income statement with income tax
calculated on profit from ordinary activities before

income tax:

Profit before income tax and dividends to
members classified as borrowing expenses

Income tax expense calculated at 30%
Nen-assessable income
Non-deductible expenses
Other deductible expenses
Carried forward tax losses not recognised
Adjustmentts in respect of prior year
Tax losses not previously brought to account
Other

Total

Income tax recognised in equity
Total income tax (expense)/benefit comprises:

Distributions proposed
Fair value of derivatives

Total income tax {expense}/benefit

Consolidated Company
Fullyear 24 April to 30 June Full year Full year
2008 2007 2008 2007
$ 5 ) s
[6.761,385) [104,559) [6.314,301) {104,559)
{3,277,526) 670411 729,806 743,090
7,261,852 105,304 282,941 105,304
{2,777,059} 671,156 {5,301,554) 743,835
36,686,400 13,172,605 19,388,911 9,025,081
{11,005,920] [3,951,782) {5.816,673) [2.707,524)
- 2,685,308 - 92,636
[748,725] {26,190) {287.306) {18,362}
1,715,734 3,354,781 519,484 3,354,781
- (1,496,265} - .
5931113 - - -
1,330,739 105,304 282,941 105,304
[2.777,059) 671,156 {5.301,554) 743,835
{5.879.077) 9,634,060 - -
{892,001) {470,029} - -
16,77 1,078) 9,164,031 - -

The tax rate used in the above reconciliation is the corporate tax rate of 30% payabie by Australian corporate entities on taxable profits
under Australian tax faw. There has been no change in the corporate tax rate when compared with the previous period.

Consolidated

Period ending 30 June 2008
Gross deferred tax assets
Borrowing costs

Doubtful debts

Stock provisions

Sundry accrued expenses
Employee provisions
Unrealised foreign exchange
Leased assets

Distributions proposed

Tax losses brought to account

Gross deferred tax liabilities
Froperty, plant and equipment
Fair value of derivatives

Total

Opening Charged to Charged to Closing
balance fncome equity balance

$ 5 $ $

25,765 [{9.122) - 16,643
114,600 124,036 - 238,636

- 4,280,186 - 4,280,186

844,382 1,796,054 - 2,640,436
3,522,706 256,567 - 3,779.273
6,077 {524,610] - {518,533)
87,851 11,945 - 99,796
9,634,060 - [5.879.077) 3,754,983
9,312,359 {6,031,360) - 3,280,999
23,547,800 {96,304} {5.879,077} 17,572,419
5,557,639 ({3.198,321) - 2,359,318
889,026 - 892,001 1,781,027
17,101,135 3,102,017 {6,771.078} 13,432,074
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Opening or at Charged to Charged to Closing
Acquisition income equity balance
3 5 5 $
income tax {cont.)
Consolidated
Period ending 30 June 2007
Gross deferred tax assets
Borrowing costs 8,575 17,190 - 25,765
Doubtful debts 269,980 [155,380) - 114,600
Sundry accrued expenses 1,113,183 [268,801) - 844,382
Employee provisions 2,946,037 576,669 - 3,522,706
Unrealised foreign exchange 6,195 [118] - 6,077
Leased assets 76,118 11,733 - 87.851
Distributions proposed - - 9,634,060 9,634,060
Tax losses brought to account 9,311,614 745 - 2,312,359
13,731,702 182,038 92.634,060 23,547,800
Gross deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment 6,046,757 [489.118) - 5,557,639
Fair value of derivatives 418,997 - 470,029 889,026
Total 7,265,948 671,156 9,164,031 17,101,135
These items relate to deferred tax balarces on
acquisiion except for $114,188, $111,367.
$1.298,051 and $2,519,481 of the balances relating
respectively to doubtful debts, accrued expenses,
employee expenses and property, plant and
equipment.
Opening Charged to Closing
balance income balance
$ $ 5
Company
Period ending 30 June 2008
Gross deferred tax assets
Barrowing costs 25765 {9,122) 16,643
Doubtful debts 107,415 {98,709) 8,706
Sundry accrued expenses 100,850 11,286 112,136
Employee provisions 1,691,248 508,498 2,199,746
Urtrealised foreign exchange 6,077 13,445 19,522
Tax losses brought to account 9,312,359 {6,031,360) 3,280,999
11,243,714 {5.605,962) 5,637,752
Gross deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipment 2,169,370 [304,408) 1,864,962
Total 9,074,344 {5.301,554) 3,772,790
Period ending 30 June 2007
Gross deferred tax assets
Borrowing costs 8,575 17,190 25,765
Doubtful debts 114,188 {6.773) 107,415
Sundry accrued expenses 111,367 {10,517} 100,850
Employee provisions 1,298,051 393,197 1,691,248
Unrealised foreign exchange 6,195 {118) 6,077
Tax losses brought to account 2311,614 745 9,312,359
10,849,990 393724 11,243,714
Gross deferred tax labilities
Property, plant and equipment 2,519,481 [350,111) 2,169,370
8,330,509 743,835 9,074,344

Total
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Consolidated Company
Fuif year 24 April to 30 June Full year Full year
2008 2007 2008 2007
$ 5 S $
Income tax [cont.}
Unrecognised deferred tax balances
Deferred income tax assets not brought to account:
Tax losses - revenue 6,158,503 8,462,731 - -
Tax tosses - capital 399,825 399,825 399,825 399,825
Key management persennel remuneration
The compensation of the key management of the
consolidated entity and company is set out below:
Short term employee benefits 2818739 1,403,991 1,470,638 1,403,991
Long term employee benefits 210,087 142,968 136,551 142,968
Total 3,028,826 1,546,959 1,607,189 1,546,959
Remuneration of auditors
Auditor of the Company
Audit and review of the financial report 110,000 140,000 110,000 110,000
Other auditors
Audit and review of the financial report 147,880 92,880 - -
Taxation services 65,435 31,830 - -
Other services related to tax advice - - 30.000 -
The auditor of the Company is
Deloitte Touche Tochmatsu.
Current trade and other receivables
Trade receivables 69,036,950 48,066,072 31,673,871 20,515,512
Allowance for doubtful debts {195,444} {358.047) [29.017) {358,047}
68,841,506 47,708,025 31,644,854 20,157,465
Goods and services tax {GST) receivable 4,599,365 3,057,415 677,474 671,311
Other debtors 1,408,755 4,159,646 1,408,755 3,639,057
Advances for vat loans 398,597 522,771 - -
Advances to members of Tatura Milk 2,197,975 1,900,877 - -
Total 77,446,198 57,348,734 33,731,083 24,467,833

The average credit period for trade debtors is 30 days. No interest is generally charged on overdue debts. An allowance has been
made for estimated irrecoverable amounts from a review of debtors outside their trading terms.

Advances for vat loans are made to members of Tatura Milk to assist with the purchase of on farm milk storage vats. Interest is charged
at 8.0% (2007 - 8.0%,.

Advances to members of Tatura Milk are interest bearing loans to assist with short term working capital. The advances have a
maximum repayment term of 12 months and interest is charged at 11.0% {2007 - 10.0%).
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10.

Consolidated Company
Fullyear 24 Aprilto 30 June Full year Full year
2008 2007 2008 2007
5 ) ) 5

Other current financia! assets
At fair value:
Fair value of derivatives 6,473,769 3,239,071 537,012 275,451
Total 6473769 3,239,071 537,012 275,651
Inventories
Finished goods at cost 51.122,400 23,788,886 21,986,576 14,575,948
Finished goods at net realisable value 24,069,847 14,618,705 1,461,302 252,706
Raw materials at cost 36,247,410 20,078,481 23,002,708 8,234,000
Total 111,439,657 58,486,072 46,450,586 23,062,654
Other current assets
Prepayments 1,935,046 2,224,207 1,442,016 682,928
Total 1,935,046 2,224,207 1,442,016 682,928
Other non-current financial assets
Investment in subsidiary - Tatura Mitk - - 37,200,479 37,200,479
Fair valued through profit and loss

Unlisted equity securities 827,234 827,131 814,523 814,523
Listed equity securities available for sale - 889,435 - -
Total 827,234 1,716,566 38,015,002 38,015,002

The parent entity, Bega Cheese, incorporated in Australia, purchased a 70% interest in Tatura Milk, also incorporated in Australia on 23
April 2007. Further detaiis of this are given in note 25.

At 30 June 2007 and 2008, Bega Cheese heid 658,671 shares in Australian Co-operative Foods Limited and 159,626 shares in Dairy
Farmers Milk Co-operative Limited. Bega Cheese has accounted for these investments at $1.00 per share, being in line with the
historical cost and redemption value, This accounting treatment reflects the fact that both entities are co-operatives in which shares
can generally only be redeemed for $1.00 per share.

Prior to 30 June 2008, the Board of Australian Co-operative Foods Limited announced that it was investigating a “Liquidity Event® and
had called for proposals from parties interested in taking over the co-operative. However, as at 30 June 2008, the Board of Australian
Co-operative Foods Limited had not finalised its investigations.

On 25 August 2008, Australian Co-operative Foods Limited announced a proposal fram National Foods to acquire 100% of the shares
in the entity for a cash consideration of $5.65 per share. The Board of both Australian Co-operative Foods Limited and Dairy Farmers
Milk Co-operative Limited have unanimously recommended the National Foods proposal subject to:

* the absence of a superior offer;
* anindependent expert’s report determining that the National Foods proposal is in the best interest of shareholders: and

» Dairy Farmers Milk Co-operative Limited entering into revised milk supply contracts.

In addition, the National Foods proposal is also subject to a postal ballot, requiring the support of more thar 75% of active members
wha vote. Given that the outcomes of the conditions precedent as listed above are uncertain, Bega Cheese cannot assume that the
“Liquidity Event” will proceed. Accordingly, Bega Cheese continues to report its investment in both Australian Co-operative Foods
Limited and Dairy Farmers Milk Co-operative Limited as at 30 June 2007 and 2008 at $1.00 per share whilst these entities remain co-
operatives governed by the NSW Co-operatives Act [ 1992) as amended.

An impairment loss of $635,000 {2007: $nil} is recognised in the consolidated entity in respect of investments in listed equity securities
avatlable for sales and expensed in profit or loss. No impairments are recognised in the Company.
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12.  Property, plant and equipment
Land and buildings

At cost
Accumulated depreciation

Total land and buildings

Plant and equipment
At cost
Accumulated depreciation

Total plant and equipment

Leased assets
At cost
Accumulated depreciation

Total leased assets

Total property, plant and equipment

Consolidated Company
Full year 24 Aprilto 30 June Full year Full year
2008 2007 2008 2007
5 5 s 5
50,104,134 50,113,518 26,966,626 26,604,999
{14,038,699) [12,162,181) {10,225,223]) [9.250,445)
36,065,435 37,951,337 16,741,403 17,354,534
233,865,287 229,530,247 89,326,500 84,389,177
[153,536,588) (145,102,349} {52,087,131} {46,525,889)
80,328,699 84,427,898 37.239,369 37.863,288
4,855,520 6,272,024 - -
{2,254,350} [1.822,143) . -
2,601,170 4,449,881 - -
118,995,304 126,829,116 $3,980,772 55,217,822

The value of land and buildings of the Company determined in accordance with an independent valuation by John Vestakis AAPI of

Aon Valuation Services based on market value for existing use as at 30 June 2008 was $31,275,000,

13. Movements in property, plant and equipment

Consolidated

Period ending 30 June 2008
Balance at the beginning of the period
Capital expenditure

Disposals

Depreciation

Impairment loss

Transfers

Balance at the end of the financial period

Period ending 30 June 2007

Balance at the beginning of the period
Acquisition through business combination
Capital expenditure

Disposals

Depreciation

Transfers

Balance at the end of the financial period

Land and Plant and Leased
buildings equipment assets
at cost at cost at cost Total
5 S $ $
37,951,337 84,427,898 4,449,881 126,829,116
£3,353 8,944,122 - 8,997,475
{380.342) [1,186,435) {1.141,690) [2.708,467)
{1,918.211} {11,031,015) {707,021} {13.656,247)
- {466,573) - {466,573)
359,298 {359.298) - -
36,065,435 80,328,699 2,601,170 118,995,304
18,062,208 40,231,574 - 58,293,782
20,773,099 47,508,236 4,608,848 72,890,183
13,843 3,903,754 - 3,917,597
(8,875} {8.004) - {16,879}
{1,141,547) {6,955,053) [158,967) {8.255,567)
252,609 {252,609) - -
37,951,337 84,427,898 4,449,881 126,829,116

During the current year, an impairment loss of $466,573 (2007: $nil) was recognised in the consolidated entity and expensed in profit
or loss. The impairment is in respect of a canning line located at Tatura Milk and is based on the recoverable value being reduced to
reflect the best estimates of reduced production volumes, No impairments are recognised in the Company.
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13.

14.

15.

Movements in property, plant and equipment [cont.)

Land and Plant and
buildings equipment
at cost at cost Total
5 $ )
Company
Period ending 30 June 2008
Balance at the beginning of the financial period 17,354,534 37,863,288 55217822
Capital expenditure 3864 5,652,451 5,656,315
Disposals {768) [62,600) [63,368)
Depreciation [975,525) {5.854,472) {6,829,997)
Transfers 359,298 {359.298) -
Balance at the end of the financial period 16,741,403 37,239,369 53,980,772
Period ending 30 June 2007
Balance at the beginning of the financial period 18,062,208 40,231,574 58,293,782
Capital expenditure 13,843 3,753,770 3,767,613
Disposals (8,875) {8.004) {16,879)
Depreciation [965,251) [5.861,443) (6,826,694}
Transfers 252,609 {252,609) -
Balance at the end of the financial period 17.354,534 37,863,288 55,217,822

Intangible assets

During the prior year, the Company bought the *"Meifbourne® brand for packing and distribution of cheese products under this fabel,
The brand is considered to have an indefinite life due to the product life cycle and current market demand. Impairrment was further
tested by reviewing the revenue and profits of "Melbourne™ brand products.

Consolidated Company
Fullyear 24 Aprilto 30 June Full year Fullyear
2008 2007 2008 2007
5 5 $ 5

Brands 404,640 404,640 404,640 404,640
Total intangible assets 404,640 404,640 404,640 404,640
Movement in intangibles
Balarce at the beginning of the financial peried 404,640 - 404,640 -
Additions - 404,640 - 404,640
Balance at the end of the financial period 404,640 404,640 404,640 404,640
Current trade and other payables
Trade payables 63,523,758 48,534,186 39,854,445 33,908,240
Accrued charges and sundry creditors 36,792,196 24,228,718 12,609,736 15.311,286
Amounts owed to Tatura Milk - - 4,677.050 3,369,328
Fair value of derivatives 537,012 275,651 537,012 275,651
Total 100,852,966 73,038,555 57.678,243 52,864,505

For further detail on amounts owed to Tatura Milk, see note 25 and note 26. The average credit period on purchases is 30 days from
the month the goods are received in except for certain professional fees. No material amounts of interest are charged on late

payments.
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16.

17.

18.

Consolidated Company
Fullyear 24 April to 30 June Full year Full year
2008 2007 2008 2007
$ 5 $ 3
Non-current trade and other payables
Amounts owed to Tatura Milk - - 5,259,688 9.284,532
Other trade payahles 450,000 - - -
Total 450,000 - 5,259,688 9,284,532

For further detail on amounts payable to Tatura Milk, see note 25 and note 2é6.

Current and non-current borrowings
Current - at amortised cost

Secured term loans 30,832,045 25,742,881 9,500,000 4,000,000
Finance Lease liabilitles 698,694 800,529 - -
Total 31,530,739 26,543,410 9,500,000 4,000,000

Non-current - at amortised cost

Secured term loans 25,500,000 21,000,000 2,000,000 -
Finance Lease liabilities 2,235,129 3,942,187 - -
Total 27,735,129 24,942,187 9,000,000 -

Each of Bega Cheese and Tatura Milk have separate barking facilities. The respective facilities:
*  arestand-alone facilities and are not subject to cress-charges or cross-guarantees;

* Indude normal commercial terms and conditions and particular bank covenants relating to the financial position and
performance of the respective entities; and
. are subject to separate equitable mortgages and floating charges over all the assets and undertakings of the respective entities.

Further information as to the financial instruments relating to the facilities is set out at note 2.
Minimum lease

Finance lease liabilities payments Interest Principal
Finance lease liabilities of the consolidated entity: S 5 $
As at 30 fune 2008

Less than one year 908,150 209,456 698,694
Between one and five years 2,497,413 262,284 2,235,129
Total 3,405,563 471,740 2,933,823
As at 30 June 2007

Less than one year 1,145,593 345,064 800,529
Between one and five years 4,567,274 625,087 3,942,187
Total 5,712,867 970,151 4742716

The consolidated entity leases production plant and equipment under finance leases expiting from one to five years. At the end of the
tease term, the consolidated entity has the option to purchase the equipment at market value. The consolidated entity's lease liabilities
are secured by the leased assets of $2,601,171 {2007:$4,449,881] as in the event of default, the leased assets revert to the lessor.

Consolidated Company
Fultyear 24 April to 30 June Fuii year Fult year

2008 2007 2008 2007
Provisions
Employee benefits
Current 7,802,807 7.801,978 3,059,294 2,188,800
Non-current 2,915,384 3178756 2,521,153 2,687,076
Total 10,718,191 10,980,734 5,580,447 4,875,876

The number of employees in the consolidated entity at 30 June 2008 was 856 (2007; 893). The number of employees in the Company
as at 30 June 2008 was 551 {2007: 531},
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19.

Members' shares

Restructure of Bega Cheese

On 23 April 2008, The Bega Co-operative Society Limited was restructured into a Company, Bega Cheese Limited, incorporated under
the Corporations Act 2001. Bega Cheese Limited has two classes of ordinary shares; A Class Shares, which are held by suppliers, and B
Class Shares if the member has ceased to be a supplier. Voting control of Bega Cheese Limited is canferred on A Class Shares with one
vote for each A Class Share held. B Class Shares do not carry ary voting rights except for the purposes of voting on a variation of rights
attached to B Class Shares. Both classes have rights to dividends and other distributions made on the basis of shares heid.

On conversion to the Company, all shareholders of The Bega Co-operative Society Limited were issued with either A Class Shares or B
Class Shares in Bega Cheese Limited equal to the number of shares they held in the Company before the restructure. Qualifying ex-
members were given the opporiunity to purchase B Class Shares under the 5 year "Look Back” provisions in the Co-operatives Act 1992
(as amended). As the Company does not have a right to unconditionally re-purchase the shares, the shares are now classified in equity.

Members' shares befare the restructure on 23 April 2008

In accordance with the Co-operatives Act 1992 [as amended) Bega Cheese was required to compulsorily acquire the shares of
members in certain circumstances. As Bega Cheese did not have an “unconditional right to avoid’ the buy back of shares, they were
classified as liabilities from 1 July 2004 until 23 April 2008. Each member was entitlied to one vote. Shares due to be purchased back
from former members notified to Bega Cheese before the 2007 year end were $1,066,61 1. The issue of bonus and levy shares in 2007
represents the allocation agreed by the members at the Annual General Meeting in 2005,

Consolidated Company
Fultyear 24 Aprilto 30 June Full year Full year
2008 2007 2008 2007
Number of shares
24,795,805 fully paid ordinary shares 24,795,805 22,402,838 24,795,805 22,402,838
{2007 - 22,402,838}
Total 24,795,805 22,402,838 24,795,805 22,402,838

Consolidated and Company

Ordinary Shares A Class Shares B Class Shares
$ and number $ and number $ and number
Movement in contributed equity by value and number
Ordinary shares on issue at I July 2006 21,731,632 - -
Subscribed by members 165,023 - -
Purchased back from former members {1.336,538) - -
Issued as bonus shares 940,362 - -
Issued as levy shares 902,359 - -
Ordinary shares on issue at 30 fune 2007 22,402,838 - -
Qrdinary shares on issue at 1 July 2007 22,402,838 - -
Subsctibed by members 2,000 - -
Purchased back from former members {219,080) - -
Converted on restructure to Bega Cheese Limited as at 23 Aprif 2008 {22,185,758) 19,808,070 2,377.688
Purchased by qualifying ex-members - - 2,586,047
Subscribed by members - 24,000 -
Transfers between classes ‘ - 489,093 {489,093)
Ordinary shares on issue at 30 June 2008 - 20,321,163 4.474.642

Aand B Class Shares may only be transferred to other members and any transfer Is approved by the Board at its absolute discretion. If
A Class shares are transferred to a member who is not a supplier, they will be converted to B Class Shares, by resoiution of the Board, If
B Class Shares are transferred to a member who is a supplier, they may be converted to A Class Shares by resolution of the Board.

As at 30 June 2008, Tatura Milk held 2,000 shares in Bega Cheese Limited {2007: nil, due to the share register being closed).
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20.

Retained earnings and reserves

Reserves are made up of:
Capital profits reserve
Hedging reserve

Total

The capital profits reserve is held to maintain
adequate equity balances in the business. The
hedging reserve reflects movements unrecognised in
the profit and loss in refation to the effective portion
of cash flow hedges.

Movement in retained earnings
and reserves

Consolidated
Balance as at 23 April 2007
Net profit attributable to members of the
parent entity
Issuance of bonus shares
Issuance of levy shares
Distribution to former members
in lieu of shares
Transfer {to}/from capital reserve
Revaluation of fair value derivatives
Transactions relating to the minority interest

Balance as at 30 June 2007

Balance as at 1 July 2007

Net profit attributable to members of the
parent entity

Dividend paid or propased

Revaluation of fair value derivatives

Transactions relating to the minority interest

Balance as at 30 June 2008

Company

Balance as at 1 July 2006

Net profit attributable to members of the
parent entity

tssuance of bonus shares

Issuance of levy shares

Distribution to former members
in lieu of shares

Transfer {to)/from capital reserve

Balance as at 30 June 2007
Balance as at 1 July 2007
Net profit attributable to members of the

parent entity
Dividend paid or proposed

Balance as at 30 June 2008

Consoclidated Company

Fuilyear 24 Aprilto 30 June Full year Full year
2008 2007 2008 2007

5 5 3 $
40,635,527 40,626,398 32,563,182 32,563,182
2,864,824 1,407,889 - -
43,500,351 42,034,287 32,563,182 32,563,182
Retained Capital/General Hedging Total
Earnings Reserve Reserve Reserves

$ 5 5 )
25524612 32,544,760 - 32,544,760
11,988,149 - - -
{940.362) - - -
{202,359) - - -
{64,415) - - -
{18422) 18,422 - 18,422

- - 1,736,909 1,736,909

- 8,063,216 {325.020) 7,734,196
35,587,203 40,626,398 1,407,889 42,034,287
35,587,203 40,626,398 1,407,889 42,034,287
27,842,858 - - -
(1,774,901} 2,129 - 9,129
- - 2,081,336 2,081,336

- {624,401) {624,401)

61,655,160 40,635,527 2,864,824 43,500,351
25,524,612 32,544,760 - 32,544,760
6,671,714 - - -
{940,362} - - -
{902.359) - - -
{64.415) - - -
[18,422) 18,422 - 18,422
30,270,768 32,563,182 - 32,563,182
30,270,768 32,563,182 - 32,563,182
14,087,357 - - -
(1,774,901} - - -
42,583,224 32,563,182 - 32,563,182
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21.

Dividends to members

In accordance with A-IFRS, dividends paid in the prior year are classified as borrowing costs, to be consistent with the treatment of the

undetrlying financial instrument. For details, see note 19.

Recognised amounts
2007 Final dividend of 8.0 cents {2006 - 7.0 cents)
2007 Special dividend of nil {2006 - 8.0 cents)

Total

Unrecognised amounts
2008 Final dividend of 10.0 cents {2007 - B.0 cents}

Total

Value of the dividend franking account

Consolidated and Company

Fult year Full year
2008 2007
$ $
1,774,901 1,445,361
- 1,651,841
1,774,901 3.097,202
2,479,581 1,738,026
2,479,581 1.738,026
53,984 53,984

Before payment of the dividends declared in 2007 and 2008, additional members became entitled to the distributions which increased
the total paid. All dividends paid and payable in the current and prior years were not franked.

The following dividends were paid/payable to the minority interest by Tatura Milk, the controlled entity:

Cents per
share
Declared and paid during the year
2008
Quarterly distribution 250
Quarterly distribution 250
Completion distribution 100.0
Quarterly distribution 25.0
Total
Proposed and unpaid
2008

Year end distribution
Year end distribution
Year end distribution
Declared and paid during the year
2007
Final preference 75
Quarterly distribution 25.0

Franked/
Total amount Unfranked Date of payment
2,772,478 Unfranked 28 September 2007
2812,180 Unfranked 28 September 2007
11,230,673 Unfranked 23 January 2008
2,774,593 Unfranked 30 March 2008
19,596,924
3,474,719 Unfranked 10 July 2008
4,667,050 Unfranked 30 June 2009
5,259,688 Unfranked 30 June 2010
13,401,457
957,038 Unfranked 29 September 2006
2,779,954 Unfranked 29 June 2007
3,736,992
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23.

24.

Contingent liabilities, guarantees and warranties
The consolidated entity provides warranties for products it supplies to customers in the erdinary course of business on reasonable
commercial terms. No material watranty claims have arisen since 30 June 2008 which result in the need to raise additional liabilities of

the consolidated entity as at 30 June 2008.

Leases and commitments for expenditure

Operating lease commitments

Operating leases held by Bega Cheese relate to equipment with lease terms of up to six years and no option to extend. Bega Cheese
does not have an option to purchase the leased asset at the expiry of the lease period. The additional leases included in the
consolidated entity relate to motor vehicle operating leases and warehouse rental. The motor vehicle leases typicaily run for a period of
one to five years with an option to renew the lease after this date. The warehouse lease has a renewal and purchase option
exercisable within one year. Finance lease liabilities are disclosed in note 17.

Consolidated Company
Full year 24 April to 30 June Full year Full year
2008 2007 2008 2007
$ 5 3 5
Non-cancellable operating lease payments
Plant and machinery
Within one year 672,899 650,305 344,860 540,001
Between one and five years 653,344 1,266,139 631,116 1,167,524
Over five years 2,134 2,106 2,134 9,106
Land buildings
Within one year - 595,745 - -
Between one and five years - 258,156 - -
Total 1,328,377 2,779451 978,110 1,716,631
Non-cancellable operating lease receivables
Between one and five years 160,000 154,500 160,000 154,500
Total 160,000 154,500 160,000 154,500
Capital expenditure - within one year
Plant and equipment 6,489,338 1685761 731,917 1,506,039
Joint venture
Bega Cheese holds a 25% interest in the output of
Capitol Chilled Foods [Australia) Pty Ltd, the
management company responsible for operating the
Joint venture. The principal activity of the joint venture
is liquid milkk and chilled food distribution. Bega
Cheese’s interest in assets employed in the joint
venture is detailed below. The amounts are included
in the financial statements under their respective
asset cateqories:
Current assets
Cash 53,627 55,366 53,627 55,366
Trade and other receivables 1,444,636 1,325,540 1,444,636 1,325,540
Inventories 159,649 174,565 159,649 174,565
Total current assets 1,657,912 1,555,471 1,657,912 1,555,471
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 436,503 466,387 436,503 466,387
Total assets 2,094,415 2,021,858 2,094,415 2,021,858
Current accounts payable 705,931 868,299 705,931 868,299
Total liabitities 705,931 868,299 705,931 868,299
Net assets 1,.388484 1,153,559 1,388,484 1,153,559

No contingent fiabilities arose from the consolidated entity's interest in the joint venture. The capital commitments arising from the
consolidated entity’s interest in the joint venture are included within note 23.
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Acquisition of business

On 23 April 2007, Bega Cheese acquired a 70% interast in Tatura Milk, with the existing Tatura Milk shareholders retaining the
remairting 30%. The principal activities of Tatura Milk are the manufacture and sale of butter, milk powder, cream cheese, infant
powder, milk protein concentrate and other specialised powder and milk products.

Tatura Milk
Fair vaiue Fair value on
As at 23 April 2007 Book Value adjustments acquisition
5 3 $
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 39,767,754 {140,616) 39,627,138
Inventaories 37,507,727 240,111 38,447,838
Total current assets 77,275,481 799,495 78,074,976
Nan-current assets
Investments 1,207,221 348,000 1,555,221
Property, plant and equipment 73,889,194 (999,011} 72,890,183
Total hon-current assets 75,096,415 [651,011) 74,445,404
Total assets 152,371,896 148,484 152,520,380
Current labilitfes
Trade and other payables 23,310,994 - 23,310,994
Borrowings 27,039,664 - 27,039,664
Provisions 4,693,294 - 4,693,294
Total current liabilities 55,043,952 - 55,043,952
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 30,232924 - 30,232,924
Deferred tax liabilities 1,033,380 44,545 1,077,925
Provisions 799,993 - 799,993
Total current liabilitfes 32,066,297 44,545 32,110,842
Total liabilities 87,110,249 44,545 87.154,794
Minority interests (19.578,494) {31,182] (19,609,675}
Net assets 45,683,153 72,757 45,755,910

The initial accounting for the acquisition of Bega Cheese's share in Tatura Milk has been confirmed as unchanged from the amounts
provisionally determined at 30 June 2007.

The cost of the acquisition of 537,200,479 comprises cash of approximately $38,760,006 plus transaction costs of $422,478 net of
discounting of $1,982,005 calculated using an average market rate of 6.2%. To date, $28,182,484 (2007: $24,546.6 19] has been paid
with $9,935,738 (2007: $14,635,865) due over the next twa years, net of discounting. The grass amounts owing to Tatura Milk are due
as follows: $5,000,000 on 30 June 2009 and $6,000,000 on 30 June 2010. These payments due, net of interest discounting, are
included in the amounts owed to the minority interest. Movements in the discounting are included in the income statement within

finance costs.

Bega Cheese recorded a discount on acquisition of $8,555,43 1, for the period ending 30 June 2007 being the difference between the
fair value of assets acquired and the fair value of consideration paid.

included in the cansclidated net profit for the period is a profit of $14,155,127 [2007; loss of [$4,458,227) attributable to the results of
Tatura Milk. Had the business combination been effected at 1 July 2006, the revenue of the consolidated entity for the period ending
30 June 2007 would be $541,956,972 and the loss for the same period would be {§1,200,576).

On acquisition, Bega Cheese acquired a 70% interest in Tatura Milk and undertakings were given to the Directors and members of
Tatura Milk that the minority would retain 30%. During the year ended 30 June 2008, a number of redeemable preference
shareholders in Tatura Milk exited the business and the shares held by the members were compulsorily purchased by Tatura Milk
under the constitution. As a result, the minority interest fell to 28% by 30 June 2008. Bega Cheese has not consolidated the additional
2% into the financial statements as a Tatura Milk redeemable preference share repurchase scheme is due to be introduced in 2009
which will enable the redeemable preference shareholders to retain a 30% equity interest.
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Related party disclosures

(al

(o]

fc)

Terms and conditions of related party transactions
Transactions between the consolidated entity and related parties during the year ended 30 June 2008 were conducted on
hormal commercial terms and conditions.

During the period the Company had the following transactions with Tatura Milk :

Sales to Tatura Milk Purchases from Tatura Mitk
Fullyear 24 Aprilto 30 June Fullyear 24 Apriito 30 June
2008 2007 2008 2007
$ $ ) " $
Dairy products 679574 - 11,133,222 232,076
Management fees - - 1,354,461 -

The following baltances arising from transactions between the Company and Tatura Milk are outstanding at reporting date:

* Receivables are inciuded in trade and other receivables of $86,303 {2007 - $nil).
* Payables are included in trade and other creditors of $1,296,908 (2007 - $nil).
* Deferred consideration of $9,936,738 {2007 - $12,653,860).

During the period the consolidated entity had the following transactions with its joint venture:

Consolidated Company
Fullyear 24 April to 30 June Full year Full year
2008 2007 2008 2007
$ 5 5 $
Sales 8082168 14,147,310 8,082,168 14,147,310

Bega Cheese also rented property, plant and equipment to the joint venture on normal commercial terms.

Key management remuneration
This is disclosed in note 5.

Transactions with directors

The current directors each owned equity shares and supplied milk to Bega Cheese on normal commercial terms and conditions
during the year.
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27. Notes to the cash flow statement
For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash includes cash on hand, in banks and investments in money market instruments, net
of outstanding bank overdraits.

Consolidated Company
Fullyear 24 Aprilto 30 June Full year Full year
2008 2007 2008 2007
{a} Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
Cash 11,416,009 10,237,574 8,626,688 5,060,827
Total 11,416,009 10,237,574 8,626,688 5060.827
(b]  Financing facilities
Amount used 59,687,131 46,323,376 18,500,000 4,000,000
Amount unused 54,246,692 69,419,340 24,500,000 39,000,000
Total 113,933,823 115742716 43,000,000 43,000,000
{c]  Recenciliation of profit for the period to net cash flows
from operating activities
Profit after income tax 33,909,341 10,746,559 14,087,357 6,671,714
Adjustments for non-cash items
Deprectation of nor-current assets 13,656,247 8,255,567 6,829,997 6,826,694
Impairment of assets 466,573 - - -
Write down of investment 635,000 - - -
Loss/{profit) on sale of
property, plant and equipment {130,519) {46.533) 16,068 {29,533)
investment 6,119 {2.411) - {2,185)
Interest income received and receivable {923,329) (1,086,897} [458,080) {995.796)
Interest payable on leases 287,568 - . -
Dividend receivable (802} {69) - {67)
Decrease/{increase) in other tax balances 2,777,059 9.848,551 5,301,554 [743,835)
Discount on deferred consideration 894.846 - 918,743 -
Gain on acquisition of business - {8,555,431) - -
Changes in provisions for doubtful debts [162,603) {22,578) {329,030} {22,578}
Changes in provision for stock obsolescence 2,620,176 {2,108,173) 605,512 332571
Changes in net assets and liabilities:
{Increase)/decrease in assets:
Trade and other debtors and GST recoverable [19,934,861) 5,353,615 {8,934,220) {655,858)
Inventories {55,573,7463) 1,358,727 [{23,993,444) {4,106,437)
Prepayments 289,161 {778,758) [759.088) 25,757
Increase/{decrease] in liabilities:
Trade creditors 15,439,572 11,865,982 5,946,205 12,597,582
Accrued expenses and sundry creditors 12,563,480 [14,196,442) {2.701,5504 8,202,707
Changes to provisions {262,543) 1,778,787 704,571 1,167.216
Net cash flows from operating activities 6,556,722 22,410,496 [2,765,405]) 29,267,952
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